



UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS SISTEMA DE BIBLIOTECAS DA UNICAMP REPOSITÓRIO DA PRODUÇÃO CIENTIFICA E INTELECTUAL DA UNICAMP

Versão do arquivo anexado / Version of attached file:

Versão do Editor / Published Version

Mais informações no site da editora / Further information on publisher's website: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1040842814001875

DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.11.003

Direitos autorais / Publisher's copyright statement:

©2015 by Elsevier. All rights reserved.

DIRETORIA DE TRATAMENTO DA INFORMAÇÃO

Cidade Universitária Zeferino Vaz Barão Geraldo CEP 13083-970 – Campinas SP Fone: (19) 3521-6493 http://www.repositorio.unicamp.br



Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 93 (2015) 304-311



www.elsevier.com/locate/critrevonc

Association between unilateral tonsillar enlargement and lymphoma in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Alexandre Caixeta Guimarães^{a,*,1}, Guilherme Machado de Carvalho^{a,1}, Carlos Roberto Silveira Correa^{b,1}, Reinaldo Jordão Gusmão^{a,1}

> ^a Unicamp, Brazil ^b Public Health Department, Unicamp, Brazil Accepted 13 November 2014

Contents

1.	Introduction	305
2.	Methods	305
	2.1. Study selection and search strategy	305
3.	Results	306
4.	Discussion	308
5.	Conclusion	309
	Conflict of interest	309
	Reviewers	309
	Acknowledgments	310
	References	310
	Biographies	311

Abstract

Lymphoma is the most common head and neck malignancy in children, and palatine tonsils asymmetry is the most frequent clinical manifestation of tonsillar lymphoma. However, several studies with children with tonsillar asymmetry found no case of lymphoma, showing that the relationship of tonsillar asymmetry with lymphoma is unclear. In this review, we aimed to identify the association between tonsillar asymmetry and tonsillar lymphoma in children by conducting systematic reviews of the literature on children with palatine tonsil lymphoma and tonsillar asymmetry. Articles comprising the paediatric age group (up to 18 years) with information concerning clinical manifestations of tonsillar lymphoma or the diagnosis of the tonsillar asymmetry were included. The main cause of asymmetry of palatine tonsils was lymphoid hyperplasia, followed by lymphoma and nonspecific benign changes. The asymmetry of tonsils was present in 73.2% of cases of lymphoma. There was an association between asymmetric palatine tonsils and lymphoma, with a likelihood ratio of 43.5 for children with asymmetry of palatine tonsils and 8938.4 for children with asymmetry of tonsils and other signs of suspicion for malignancy. We also provide recommendations on the management of suspicious cases of palatine tonsil lymphoma.

© 2014 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Lymphoma; Children; Tonsil; Tonsil asymmetry; Unilateral tonsillar enlargement

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.11.003

1040-8428/© 2014 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: PT, palatine tonsils; LR, likelihood ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Street Tessália Vieira de Carvalho, 126 – Postal Code 13083-887, Campinas City, State of São Paulo, Brazil. Tel.: +55 19 982353760.

E-mail addresses: alecgxl2@hotmail.com (A.C. Guimarães), guimachadocarvalho@gmail.com (G.M. de Carvalho), ccorrea@fcm.unicamp.br (C.R.S. Correa), reinaldojg@gmail.com (R.J. Gusmão).

¹ Department of Otolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Faculty of Medical Sciences (FCM), University of Campinas (Unicamp), Vital Brasil Street, 251, Campinas City 13083-888, SP, Brazil. Tel.: +55 19 35217523/35217524.

1. Introduction

Lymphoma is the third most common malignancy of childhood, accounting for approximately 12% of all cancers in individuals under 15 years of age [1].

In the paediatric population, lymphomas are the most frequent malignant tumours of the head and neck, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma is the most common type [2]. The extranodal involvement is more common in non-Hodgkin lymphoma when compared with Hodgkin lymphoma, and the palatine tonsils (PT) are the most frequent site of extranodal involvement in non-Hodgkin lymphomas [3].

Knowledge of the most frequent clinical manifestations of PT lymphoma is critical for detection and early diagnosis [4], allowing treatment during the initial stages and increased disease-free survival and overall survival [5–7]. The size of tonsillar lymphoma also has a direct relationship with prognosis [8].

In a study with 47 children with tonsillar asymmetry and 43 children with symmetric tonsils undergoing tonsillectomy, no difference in the PT volumes between groups was observed, with the apparent asymmetry resulting from the difference in the depth of the tonsillar fossa [9]. In another study of 13 children with asymmetric PT, there were no cases of lymphoma in these children and no difference in the PT sizes when compared to children without asymmetry [10].

Other studies with patients with apparent asymmetry of PT found no difference between the PT sizes in 39–52% of cases, and in most of the patients, the PT considered bigger was smaller than the contralateral [11–13]. Clinical asymmetry in these cases was attributed to variations in depth of the tonsillar fossa or to anterior tonsillar pillar asymmetry.

The asymmetry of PT is the most common clinical manifestation in children with PT lymphoma and is present in 72.7% of patients, followed by alteration of the appearance of PT and cervical lymphadenopathy [4]. The correlation of the apparent asymmetry of PT with the asymmetry of PT sizes after tonsillectomy is unclear, and the asymmetry is a common finding in healthy children, present in 1.7% of children aged 4–17 years [14], and therefore, the relationship between tonsillar asymmetry and PT lymphoma is not clear.

The relationship of tonsillar asymmetry with PT lymphoma in children remains controversial and there are no reviews with a high level of evidence on the subject in the literature. To establish this relationship, this article intends to calculate the likelihood ratio (LR) of the presence of PT asymmetry with the presence of PT lymphoma.

In diagnostics, the likelihood ratio of a test provides a way to estimate the pre- and post-test probabilities of having a disease. The LR is the ratio of the sensitivity divided by 1 minus the specificity of a test. It determines how many times the likelihood of a given test result increases in the presence of a positive test compared with the likelihood of a negative test. In this case, it will determine how many times the presence of asymmetric PT increases the chance of the presence of PT lymphoma in children; currently, this relationship has not been established.

This study aimed to perform a systematic review of the literature on the presence of PT asymmetry at the time of diagnosis of PT lymphoma in paediatric patients and a systematic review on the presence of PT asymmetry in children regardless of its cause. Furthermore, we evaluated the relationship of PT asymmetry with PT lymphoma and determined the likelihood ratio of this indication of lymphoma.

2. Methods

The systematic reviews and meta-analysis followed the criteria defined by the PRISMA statement [15] and the current recommendations of the Cochrane Collaboration.

2.1. Study selection and search strategy

The following databases were systematically used by two authors (ACG, GMC): PubMed/MEDLINE, LILACS, Cochrane, Scopus and SCIELO. Two searches were performed on these databases. To detect cases of PT lymphoma in children, the first systematic review searched the following MeSH terms and free text words "tonsillar lymphoma and children". To identify cases of tonsillar asymmetry, the second search was made by the following MeSH terms and free text words "unilateral tonsillar enlargement or tonsillar asymmetry and children". The search was restricted to articles in English, Spanish and Portuguese languages related to PT lymphoma in children up to 18 years old, from January 1996 to December 2013.

Two authors were responsible for selecting all articles; all abstracts were read and from the information contained therein, if there was the possibility of cases of PT lymphoma or tonsil asymmetry in children, the articles were completely read. From the articles read, those that covered the considered paediatric age range and contained information of the clinical manifestations of PT lymphoma at diagnosis or cases of tonsillar asymmetry were included. The inclusion of articles was reviewed by both authors. Review articles without clinical cases and those that did not allow the definition of the presence or absence of PT lymphoma for each patient were excluded. Only cases of PT lymphoma confirmed by histopathology were considered.

The following data were assessed from the articles: number of cases of PT lymphoma, gender, age, tonsillar asymmetry, classification used to determine the tonsillar asymmetry, aetiology in other cases of tonsillar asymmetry, authors and year of publication. Reported information in articles was considered and clinical information of the patients not reported was considered absent.

The children in the study were classified according to the presence or absence of PT asymmetry, presence of PT lymphoma and also according to the presence of other suspicion factors for PT lymphoma. The considered suspicion factors



Fig. 1. Flowchart of articles included and excluded in the search of PT lymphoma.

for PT lymphoma were an alteration in the appearance of PT (colour alteration or visible lesion in PT), cervical lymphadenopathy larger than 3 cm, dysphagia, snoring, recurrent fever, weight loss greater than 10%, immunosuppression or prior radiotherapy.

The sensitivity of the PT asymmetry as a test for the diagnosis of PT lymphoma was calculated as the percentage of children with PT asymmetry among all those diagnosed with PT lymphoma. Since the prevalence of children without PT asymmetry and without lymphoma was lower than expected for the general population due to our search strategy, we also used the specificity of 1.7%, which is the prevalence of children with PT asymmetry without PT lymphoma [14].

We performed a meta-analysis of the data and calculated the likelihood ratio for the presence of PT asymmetry in the presence of PT lymphoma in children for the group of children with and the group without the presence of other factors of suspicion for lymphoma, with a confidence interval of 95%. The LR was calculated by dividing the sensitivity by (1 minus the specificity) for each study group.

The study was approved by the research ethics committee of the institution.

3. Results

One hundred and forty-six articles were found in the search for articles with PT lymphoma in children; 53 were

excluded for being duplicates. Of the 93 included studies, 30 were excluded because they did not contain clinical data, since these studies focused on pathology, immunology and gene expression. In addition, two others were excluded because they were literature reviews without cases, and two other articles were excluded because they were related to cerebellar tonsils. In total, 59 studies were read completely; 13 were excluded for not having detailed information of the cases; 11 were excluded because they did not allow differentiation of children from adult cases; seven articles were excluded for being cases of children without PT lymphoma or PT asymmetry; two articles were excluded as they were revisions without cases; one article was excluded for being an editorial; and one article was excluded for possessing the same sample of another included article. Finally, 24 articles remained for the meta-analysis (Fig. 1).

Sixty-two articles were found in the search for articles with tonsillar asymmetry or unilateral tonsillar enlargement in children; however, 30 articles were excluded for being duplicates, leaving 32. Five of the 32 included studies were excluded because they were related to cerebellar tonsils. Twenty-seven studies were completely read; seven were excluded because it was not possible to differentiate adult from children cases; four were excluded because they did not have histopathological results; two were excluded because they did not contain cases of tonsillar asymmetry; one was excluded due to cases being only in adults; and one was excluded because it had the same sample of another included



Fig. 2. Flowchart of articles included and excluded in the search of unilateral tonsillar enlargement in children.

article. Finally, 12 articles remained for the meta-analysis (Fig. 2).

Twenty-nine articles were selected after excluding duplicates in the search for PT asymmetry and PT lymphoma (Table 1) [9,10,12,13,16–40].

The age of children with PT lymphoma was described in 69 of 71 cases, ranging from 1 to 17 years, with a mean of 7.7 years.

Among the 71 children with PT lymphoma, 52 had PT asymmetry, 46 of them with other suspicious factors of malignancy, and in six children, PT asymmetry was the only clinical manifestation of lymphoma. Concerning the 19 children with lymphoma and without PT asymmetry, 16 had other suspicious clinical manifestations of neoplasia, and three had no suspicion for malignancy with an unexpected diagnosis after histopathological examination. A table with all the children included in the study shows the distribution of children with PT asymmetry alone or associated with other clinical manifestations of malignancy (Tables 2 and 3).

From the 27 articles of children containing asymmetric PT, no classification was used to define the PT asymmetry in 22 articles, and the asymmetry was just described as being that one of the PT was greater than the other or that PT asymmetry was present. In four articles, the classification of Brodsky [41] was used to assess the size of each PT and to determine the presence of asymmetry, while in one article the classification of Friedman [42] was

used to evaluate the size of PT and the presence of PT asymmetry.

From the 284 children with PT asymmetry, the cause of the asymmetry was due to lymphoid hyperplasia in 94 children, lymphoma in 52, chronic tonsillitis in 51, intratonsillar abscess in nine, actinomycosis in five, acute tonsillitis in five, atypical lymphoid proliferation in one, Proteus syndrome in one, and due to unspecified benign findings in 66 children.

PT asymmetry was present in 52 of 71 patients with PT lymphoma, which results in a sensitivity of 73% to this clinical sign. The asymmetry was absent in 225 of 457 patients without PT lymphoma, resulting in a specificity of 50.7%, and thus the likelihood ratio for PT asymmetry was 1.44 (CI: 1.22-1.70).

As the prevalence of PT asymmetry in children without PT lymphoma was very high in our study (50.7%) due to the search strategy of the articles that focused on patients with PT lymphoma or PT asymmetry, when considering the prevalence of children with asymmetric PT of 1.7% (Table 4), the LR for PT asymmetry is 43.55 (CI: 29.73–63.79).

To evaluate the association of other suspicious signs of malignancy in children with PT lymphoma for children with PT asymmetry according to the presence of other signs of malignancy (Table 5) and found a LR of 205.2 (CI: 28.96–1454). Therefore, when considering children with PT asymmetry and other signs of malignancy, the LR for PT lymphoma is 8938.43 (CI: 860.98–92 750.66).

Table 1 Articles included in the systematic review and the number of patients with lymphoma and PT asymmetry in each study [9,10,12,13,16–40].

Authors	Patients with	Patients with
	lymphoma	asymmetry
Amit et al. [16]	1	1
Ballin et al. [17]	0	39
Banthia et al. [18]	1	1
Berkowitz et al. [12]	7	53
Booth et al. [19]	3	1
Broughton et al. [20]	1	0
Cianci et al. [21]	1	1
Dolev et al. [22]	6	6
Garavelo et al. [23]	2	1
García-Ortega et al. [24]	1	1
Gheorghe et al. [25]	1	0
Guimarães et al. [26]	2	2
Kraus et al. [27]	0	1
Harley et al. [9]	0	47
Meirelles et al. [28]	2	2
Oluwasanmi et al. [29]	0	19
Papouliakos et al. [30]	1	1
Pelier et al. [31]	1	1
Prim Espada et al. [32]	1	9
Sahni et al. [33]	0	1
Sayed et al. [34]	29	19
Smitheringale [35]	5	3
Spinou et al. [13]	0	47
Tewfik et al. [36]	3	3
Ulualp et al. [37]	0	9
van Lierop et al. [10]	1	13
Williams et al. [38]	1	1
Yadav et al. [39]	0	1
Zeglaoui et al. [40]	1	1
Total	71	284

Table 2

Distribution of the children according to the presence of PT asymmetry and PT lymphoma.

	With PT lymphoma	Without PT lymphoma	Total
With PT asymmetry	52	232	284
Without PT asymmetry	19	225	244
Total	71	457	529

4. Discussion

Considering the prevalence of PT asymmetry in the children of 1.7%, the likelihood ratio found for PT asymmetry was 43.55, which represents a significant increase in the suspicion of PT lymphoma, but when the asymmetry

Table 4

Distribution of patients according to the presence of asymmetric PT and PT lymphoma, considering data from a previous study for the patients with PT asymmetry patients without PT lymphoma [14].

	With PT lymphoma	Without PT lymphoma	Total
With PT asymmetry	52	30	82
Without PT asymmetry	19	1754	1773
Total	71	1784	1855

Table 5

Distribution of patients with PT asymmetry according to the presence of other suspicious signs of malignancy.

	With PT lymphoma	Without PT lymphoma	Total
With other signs of malignancy	46	1	47
Without other signs of malignancy	6	231	237
Total	52	232	284

is associated with other signs of malignancy, the LR is 8938.43, *i.e.*, much higher and thus increasing the suspicion for PT lymphoma.

The use of LR to evaluate the performance of diagnostic tests is recommended and is considered a convenient way to express the results of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of diagnostic studies [43].

This was the first systematic review and meta-analysis that evaluated the relationship between the presence of PT asymmetry and PT lymphoma in children. Because PT lymphoma is a relatively rare condition, there are no controlled or cohort studies that examine the role of clinical manifestations for the diagnosis of lymphoma in children. We chose to include in this review case series and case reports of isolated cases, in order to increase the total number of cases and to include possible cases of PT lymphoma without tonsillar asymmetry or lymphoma cases without any clinical manifestation.

This study suffers from the inherent limitations of the model studied, and does not allow any temporal association and has the possibility of a selection bias. The methodology designed to find articles with cases of PT lymphoma or PT asymmetry in children was adequate, though the number of children without PT asymmetry and without lymphoma found in these studies was relatively low, with a prevalence of asymmetric PT of 50% in the children without lymphoma,

Table 3

Distribution of the children according to the presence of PT asymmetry, PT lymphoma and the presence of other suspicious clinical manifestations of lymphoma.

	With other suspicious clinical manifestations		Without other suspicious clinical manifestations	
	With PT lymphoma	Without PT lymphoma	With PT lymphoma	Without PT lymphoma
With PT asymmetry	46	1	6	231
Without PT asymmetry	16	12	3	213
Total	62	13	9	444

which is not expected for the general population. For this reason, aiming to circumvent this bias, we chose to perform the calculation of the LR using the prevalence of asymmetric PT in healthy children (without PT lymphoma) of 1.7%, which was described in the previous study [14].

Interestingly, few studies have used any classification to define the presence of tonsillar asymmetry: only five articles used a classification, representing 18.5% of the articles with cases of asymmetry of PT. The Brodsky classification was most often used.

Most cases of PT asymmetry in children were due to benign causes, and the most frequent histopathological finding was lymphoid hyperplasia. In 211 (74.2%) cases, the cause of asymmetry was nonspecific benign disorders, such as chronic tonsillitis or lymphoid hyperplasia. Other less-common causes of benign findings were intratonsillar abscess, actinomycosis and a case of Proteus syndrome. The lymphoma was the cause of PT asymmetry in 18.3% of 284 children with asymmetry of PT. We believe that this prevalence of lymphoma in this population is high and can be influenced by the inherent selection bias in the study design, since the cases of children with serious illnesses as a cause of PT asymmetry tend to be more reported in the literature than cases of children with asymmetry of PT caused by benign disorders such as chronic tonsillitis.

Several studies that evaluated the presence of PT lymphoma in children with PT asymmetry found no cases of lymphoma in this group [9,12,13,17,29,32]. Probably, no cases of lymphoma were present in these studies because lymphoma is a rare cause of isolated PT asymmetry, and none of these studies had a sample large enough to have a case of PT lymphoma. However, when we look at the children with PT lymphoma in this study, out of 71 cases of PT lymphoma, PT asymmetry was present in 52 cases (73.2%), as observed in a previous study that showed that tonsillar asymmetry is the main clinical manifestation of children with PT lymphoma [4]. In 46 (88%) of these 52 cases, the asymmetry was associated with other signs of malignancy, and in six (8.4%) of the 71 cases of PT lymphoma, PT asymmetry was the only reported clinical manifestation.

Further, three cases of lymphoma were incidentally found after tonsillectomies, without any previous suspicion for lymphoma [19,23]. Randall et al. evaluated the need for routine histopathological examination after tonsillectomy with or without adenoidectomy in children and in adults, and concluded that the incidence of incidental malignancy is rare, and histopathological examination should only be performed in the presence of suspicion for malignancy [44].

Based on our findings, we conclude that despite the chance of PT lymphoma in children with PT asymmetry being low, there is an association between PT asymmetry and lymphoma. Seeking an early diagnosis of PT lymphoma in children, we recommend that all children with asymmetry of PT should be properly examined and other clinical manifestations of suspicion for PT lymphoma should be sought, since the presence of any of them increases the risk for lymphoma by 205 times. If the child presents with isolated asymmetric PT, a clinical follow-up is important to observe the appearance of any other sign of suspicion, and PT asymmetry should be monitored, noting whether it remains the same or if there is progression of asymmetry. In the case of onset of other signs of malignancy or progression of asymmetry, tonsillectomy is recommended for histopathological evaluation. If the child remains with asymmetric PT without any modification of the initial clinical status, we recommend only a less-frequent clinical follow-up, since this asymmetry may only be apparent or can be attributed to benign causes.

We also recommend that the PT of children with isolated PT asymmetry or unilateral tonsillar enlargement, who for various reasons are undergoing tonsillectomy, are sent for histopathological evaluation, since the chance of lymphoma in this population is higher than for the general population.

We believe that the existing and used classifications to assess PT asymmetry in studies are not accurate. The use of well-defined criteria for the characterisation of PT asymmetry and the development of a new specific classification for the asymmetry may help clarify the relationship of clinical PT asymmetry and the presence of PT lymphoma.

5. Conclusion

PT asymmetry was present in 73.2% of cases of PT lymphoma in children. There was an association between the presence of PT asymmetry in children and the presence of PT lymphoma with a LR of 43.5 for the PT asymmetry and 8938.4 for the PT asymmetry with other signs of malignancy. Compared to the normal paediatric population, the probability of the presence of PT lymphoma increases 43.5 times when PT asymmetry is present and 8938.4 times when other signs of malignancy are also present. The most frequent cause of PT asymmetry was lymphoid hyperplasia.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to be disclosed.

Reviewers

Stefano Luminari, MD, Università degli studi di Modena e Reggio Emilia, Dipartimento di Medicina Diagnostica, Clinica e di Sanità Pubblica, I-41124 Modena, Italy.

Ashutosh Kacker, MD, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY 10075, United States. 310

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our ENT staff for all the help given. No external funding was secured for this study.

References

- Kaatsch P. Epidemiology of childhood cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2010;36:277–85.
- [2] Sengupta S, Pal R. Clinico pathological correlates of pediatric head and neck cancer. J Cancer Res Ther 2009;5(3):181–5.
- [3] Mohammadianpanah M, Omidvai S, Mosalei A, et al. Treatment results of tonsillar lymphoma: a 10-year experience. Ann Hematol 2005;84:223–6.
- [4] Guimarães AC, de Carvalho GM, Bento LR, Correa C, Gusmão RJ. Clinical manifestations in children with tonsillar lymphoma: a systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2014;90(2):146–51.
- [5] Urquhart A, Berg R. Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the head and neck. Laryngoscope 2001;111(9):1565–9.
- [6] Mohammadianpanah M, Daneshbod Y, Ramzi M, et al. Primary tonsillar lymphomas according to the new World Health Organization classification: to report 87 cases and literature review and analysis. Ann Hematol 2010;89(10):993–1001.
- [7] Vega F, Lin P, Medeiros LJ. Extranodal lymphomas of the head and neck. Ann Diagn Pathol 2005;9(6):340–50.
- [8] Gao Y, Li Y, Yuan Z, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the tonsil. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2002;24(5):483–5.
- [9] Harley EH. Asymmetric tonsil size in children. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002;128(7):767–9.
- [10] van Lierop AC, Prescott CA, Fagan JJ, Sinclair-Smith CC. Is diagnostic tonsillectomy indicated in all children with asymmetrically enlarged tonsils? S Afr Med J 2007;97(5):367–70.
- [11] Cinar F. Significance of asymptomatic tonsil asymmetry. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2004;131(1):101–3.
- [12] Berkowitz RG, Mahadevan M. Unilateral tonsillar enlargement and tonsillar lymphoma in children. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1999;108:876–9.
- [13] Spinou E, Kubba H, Konstantinidis I, et al. Tonsillectomy for biopsy in children with unilateral tonsillar enlargement. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2002;63:15–7.
- [14] Akcay A, Kara CO, Dagdeviren E, Zencir M. Variation in tonsil size in 4- to 17-year-old schoolchildren. J Otolaryngol 2006;35(4):270–4.
- [15] Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009;339:b2700.
- [16] Amit S, Purwar N, Agarwal A, Lalchandani D. Tonsillar follicular lymphoma in a child. BMJ Case Rep 2012;2012, pii: bcr2012006848.
- [17] Ballin AC, Koerner HN, Ballin CH, et al. Palatine tonsils asymmetry: 10 years experience of the otorhinolaryngology service of the Clinical Hospital of the Federal University of Paraná. Int Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2011;15(1):67–71.
- [18] Banthia V, Jen A, Kacker A. Sporadic Burkitt's lymphoma of the head and neck in the pediatric population. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2003;67(1):59–65.
- [19] Booth CL, Wang J. Occult hematologic malignancy in routine tonsillectomy specimens: a single institutional experience and review of the literature. Am J Clin Pathol 2013;140(6):807–12.
- [20] Broughton S, McClay JE, Murray A, et al. The effectiveness of tonsillectomy in diagnosing lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric patients after liver transplantation. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2000;126(12):1444–7.

- [21] Cianci P, Tono V, Sala A, et al. A boy with Burkitt lymphoma associated with Noonan syndrome due to a mutation in RAF1. Am J Med Genet A 2013;161A(6):1401–4.
- [22] Dolev Y, Daniel SJ. The presence of unilateral tonsillar enlargement in patients diagnosed with palatine tonsil lymphoma: experience at a tertiary care pediatric hospital. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2008;72(1):9–12.
- [23] Garavello W, Romagnoli M, Sordo L, et al. Incidence of unexpected malignancies in routine tonsillectomy specimens in children. Laryngoscope 2004;114:1103–5.
- [24] García-Ortega FP, BonnínOtal J, Durán R, Carreño Villarreal M, AlemánLópez O, MalluguizaCalvo JR. Burkitt lymphoma of a palatine tonsil. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp 1999;50(7): 579–82.
- [25] Gheorghe G, Albano EA, Porter CC, et al. Posttransplant Hodgkin lymphoma preceded by polymorphic posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder: report of a pediatric case and review of the literature. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2007;29(2):112–6.
- [26] Guimarães AC, Carvalho GM, Gusmão RJ. Linfoma tonsilar em crianças com assimetria tonsilar. Rev Paul Pediatr 2012;30(2):288–91.
- [27] Kraus MD, Crawford DF, Kaleem Z, Shenoy S, MacArthur CA, Longtine JA. T gamma/delta hepatosplenic lymphoma in a heart transplant patient after an Epstein–Barr virus positive lymphoproliferative disorder: a case report. Cancer 1998;82(5):983–92.
- [28] Meirelles RC, Figueiredo FA, Vidal ARC, Casali AR, Atherino CCT. Burkitt's lymphoma with initial tonsil involvement: report of two cases. Rev Bras Otorrinolaringol 1998;64(1):62–6.
- [29] Oluwasanmi AF, Wood SJ, Baldwin DL, Sipaul F. Malignancy in asymmetrical but otherwise normal palatine tonsils. Ear Nose Throat J 2006;85(10):661–3.
- [30] Papoiliakos S, Karkos PD, Korres G, et al. Comparison of clinical and histopathological evaluation of tonsils in pediatric and adult patients. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2009;266:1309–13.
- [31] Pellier I, N'Golet L, Rachieru P, et al. Disseminated nasal-type natural killer/T-cell lymphoma in a child: a case report. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2009;31(5):362–6.
- [32] Prim Espada MP, Diego Sastre JI, Hardisson Hernáez D, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders of Waldeyer's ring. An Esp Pediatr 2002;57(4):317–20.
- [33] Sahni JK, Kumar S, Wadhwa V, Kathuria G. Proteus syndrome with huge tonsillar mass causing dysphagia: a rare case. J Laryngol Otol 2006;120(5):408–10.
- [34] Sayed H, Van Savell Jr H, Hutchison RE, et al. Review of tonsillar lymphoma in pediatric patients from the pediatric oncology group: what can be learned about some indications for microscopic examination? Pediatr Dev Pathol 2005;8(5):533–40.
- [35] Smitheringale A. Lymphomas presenting in Waldeyer's ring. J Otolaryngol 2000;29(3):183–5.
- [36] Tewfik TL, Bond M, al-Ghamdi K, Bernard C. Burkitt's lymphoma of the tonsil in children. J Otolaryngol 1996;25(3): 205–8.
- [37] Koral K, Margraf L, Deskin R. Management of intratonsillar abscess in children. Pediatr Int 2013;55(4):455–60.
- [38] Williams MD, Brown HM. The adequacy of gross pathological examination of routine tonsils and adenoids in patients 21 years old and younger. Hum Pathol 2003;34:1053–7.
- [39] Yadav SP, Chanda R, Gathwala G, Yadav RK. Actinomycosis of tonsil masquerading as tumour in a 12-year old child. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2002;63:73–5.
- [40] Zeglaoui I, Belcadhi M, Sriha B, Bouzouita K. NasalNK/T-cell lymphoma in the paediatric population. Two case reports. B-ENT 2009;5(2):119–23.
- [41] Brodsky L. Modern assessment of tonsils and adenoids. Pediatr Clin North Am 1989;36:1551–69.
- [42] Friedman M, Tanyeri H, Caldarelli D, et al. Clinical predictors of obstructive sleep apnea. Laryngoscope 1999;109: 1901–7.

- [43] Stengel D, Bauwens K, Sehouli J, Ekkernkamp A, Porzsolt F. A likelihood ratio approach to meta-analysis of diagnostic studies. J Med Screen 2003;10(1):47–51.
- [44] Randall DA, Martin PJ, Thompson LDR. Routine histologic examination is unnecessary for tonsillectomy or adenoidectomy. Laryngoscope 2007;117:1600–4.

Biographies

Alexandre Caixeta Guimarães, M.D., graduated from the University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Brazil, received his title of specialist in otolaryngology from UNICAMP and concluded his fellowship in neurotology and otological surgery from UNICAMP. He is currently concluding his Ph.D. in medical sciences at UNICAMP, is a member of the Division of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery at the University of Campinas, has published more than 35 papers in reputable journals and has been serving as an editorial board member and reviewer of several international journals.

Guilherme M. Carvalho is a member of the Division of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery at the University of Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brazil.

Carlos Correa is a professor of the Public Health department at the University of Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brazil.

Reinaldo J. Gusmão is the coordinator of the paediatric otolaryngology area of the Division of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery at the University of Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brazil.